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I.  INTRODUCTION

Now that you have heard all the evidence and the arguments of counsel, it is my

duty to instruct you on the law applicable to this case.  Before I start, just a few words of

introduction.  I believe my charge will take about one hour.

This case involves federal criminal charges against the defendants Timothy M.

McGinn and David L. Smith.  I am confident that if you continue to pay attention and

listen carefully, as you have done throughout the trial, you will be able to follow and

apply the law to the facts of this case as you find them to be.

I will begin by giving you some general instructions, then I will instruct you on the

law with respect to the charges asserted against the defendants.  Parts of this

instruction may seem repetitive of the preliminary instructions, so please bear with me.

II.  ROLE OF THE COURT AND JURY

Your duty as jurors is to determine the facts of this case on the basis of the

admitted evidence.  Once you have determined the facts, you must follow the law as I

state it and apply the law to the facts.  On these legal matters, you must take the law as

3
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I give it to you; that is, if any attorney has stated a legal principle different from any that

I state to you in these instructions, it is my instructions that you are bound to follow. 

You are not to consider one instruction alone as stating the law, but are to consider the

instructions as a whole.

You should not concern yourself with the wisdom of any rule of law.  You are

bound to accept and apply the law as I give it to you, whether or not you agree with it. 

In deciding the facts of this case, you must not be swayed by feelings of bias, prejudice,

or sympathy towards any party.  In addition, since your verdict must be based solely

upon the evidence, or the lack of evidence, developed at this trial, it would be improper

for you to consider any personal feelings you may have about the defendants' race,

national origin, sex, or age.  It would be equally improper for you to allow any feelings

you may have about the nature of the charges against the defendants to influence you

in any way.

The parties and the public expect you to carefully and impartially consider all the

evidence in this case, follow the law as stated by me, and reach a decision regardless

4
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of the consequences.  The defendants are entitled to the presumption of innocence and

the government has the burden of proof, as I will discuss in a moment.  Our judicial

system cannot work unless you reach your verdict through a fair and impartial

consideration of the evidence.

You are about to be asked to decide whether or not the United States of

America, which I will refer to as the government, has proven beyond a reasonable

doubt the guilt of defendants Timothy M. McGinn and David L. Smith.  Your verdict

should be based solely upon the evidence or lack of evidence, in accordance with my

instructions.

This case is important to the government, for the enforcement of criminal law is a

matter of prime concern to the community.  Equally, it is important to the defendants, 

who are charged with serious crimes.  The fact that the prosecution is brought in the

name of the United States of America entitles the government to no greater

consideration than that accorded the defendants.  By the same token, it is entitled to no

less consideration.  All parties, whether government or individuals, stand as equals

5
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before the law.  The question can never be:  Will the government win or lose this case? 

The government always wins when justice is done, regardless of whether the verdict is

not guilty or guilty.

The superseding indictment names both Timothy M. McGinn and David L. Smith

as defendants.  In reaching a verdict, however, you must bear in mind that guilt is

personal and individual.  Your verdict as to each defendant on each individual count

must be determined separately solely on the evidence, or lack of evidence, presented

against that defendant without regard to the guilt or innocence of anyone else.

You may not draw any inference, favorable or unfavorable, towards the

government or the defendants from the fact that certain persons were not named as

defendants in the superseding indictment.  Whether a person should be indicted as a

defendant is a matter within the sole discretion of the United States Attorney and the

grand jury.  Therefore, you may not consider it in any way in reaching your verdict as to

the defendants on trial.

6
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III.  TYPES OF EVIDENCE

As stated earlier, your duty is to determine the facts based on the evidence I

have admitted.  The term "evidence" includes the sworn testimony of witnesses, sworn

testimony is the question combined with the answer of the witness, stipulations, and

exhibits admitted in the record.  As you heard, the attorneys stipulated to various facts

as detailed in Court's Exhibit 1a, of which you have a copy.  You should regard these

facts as true.  The arguments and statements of lawyers as well as questions to

witnesses, standing alone, are not evidence.  

The law recognizes two types of evidence—direct and circumstantial.  Direct

evidence is when witnesses testify about something they know by virtue of their own

senses, that is, something they have seen, felt, touched, or heard.  Direct evidence may

also be in the form of an exhibit where the fact to be proved is its present existence or

condition.

Circumstantial evidence is evidence that tends to prove a disputed fact by proof

of other facts.  You infer on the basis of reason, experience, and common sense from

7
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one established fact the existence or non-existence of some other fact.  Circumstantial

evidence is of no lesser value than direct evidence; for, it is a general rule that the law

makes no distinction between direct evidence and circumstantial evidence but simply

requires that your verdict must be based on all of the evidence presented.  While you

should consider only the admitted evidence, you may draw inferences from the

testimony and exhibits that are justified in light of common experience.

The attorneys showed you some charts that were admitted into evidence.  These

were shown to you in order to make the other evidence more meaningful and to aid you

in considering the evidence.  They are no better than the testimony or documents upon

which they are based, and are not themselves independent evidence.  Therefore, you

are to give no greater consideration to these charts than you would give to the evidence

upon which they are based.

It is for you to decide whether the charts correctly present the information

contained in the testimony or exhibits on which they are based.  You are entitled to

consider the charts if you find that they are of assistance to you in analyzing and

8
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understanding the evidence.

Various exhibits in the form of tables and typed versions of handwritten letters

were received into evidence.  These exhibits are aids to summarize information

contained in documents and spreadsheets and to assist you in understanding the

contents of the handwritten letters.  As they were received into evidence, you should

consider them as you would any other evidence.  However, you alone should make

your own interpretation of what appears in the documents, spreadsheets, and

handwritten letters.  If you think the documents, spreadsheets, and letters contain

something different than appears in these exhibits, then your interpretation is

controlling.

Let me say again, you, the jury, are the sole judges of the facts.

IV.  WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

You have had the opportunity to observe all the witnesses and now it is your job

to decide how believable each one was in his or her testimony.  There is no magic

9
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formula to help you decide how much weight to give to the testimony of a particular

witness.  You should consider each witness's intelligence, motive, state of mind,

appearance, and manner while on the witness stand.  Consider the witness's ability to

observe the matters as to which he or she has testified, and whether he or she

impresses you as having an accurate memory or recollection on these matters.

Consider also any relation each witness may bear to either side of the case; the

manner in which each witness may be affected by the verdict; any bias, resentment, or

hostility each witness may harbor; and the extent to which, if at all, each witness is

either supported or contradicted by other evidence in the case.

You heard the testimony of Geoffrey Smith.  As the son of defendant David L.

Smith, he is considered an interested witness.  In evaluating the credibility of this

witness, you should take into account any evidence that he may benefit in some way

from the outcome of this case.  Such an interest in the outcome creates a motive to

testify falsely and may sway the witness to testify in a way that advances self-interests. 

Therefore, if you find that Geoffrey Smith may have an interest in the outcome of this

10

Case 1:12-cr-00028-DNH   Document 96   Filed 02/01/13   Page 10 of 60



trial, then you should bear that factor in mind when evaluating the credibility of his

testimony and accept it with great care.  This is not to suggest that every witness who

has an interest in the outcome of a case will testify falsely.  It is for you to decide to

what extent, if at all, the witness's interest has affected or colored his testimony. 

A defendant in a criminal case never has any duty to testify or come forward with

any evidence.  This is because, as I have told you, the burden of proof beyond a

reasonable doubt remains on the government at all times, and the defendants are

presumed innocent.  In this case, the defendants Timothy M. McGinn and David L.

Smith did testify, and they were subject to cross-examination like any other witness. 

You should examine and evaluate this testimony just as you would the testimony of any

witness with an interest in the outcome of the case.

You also heard the testimony of Brian Shea, Ronald Simons, David Rees, Brian

Cooper, Matthew Rogers, and Joseph Carr.  These witnesses testified that they were

actually involved in carrying out some of the acts at issue in this case. 

There has been a great deal said about these witnesses and whether or not you
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should believe their testimony.  The government argues, as it is permitted to do, that it

must take witnesses as it finds them.  It argues that only people who themselves take

part in criminal activity have the knowledge required to show criminal behavior by

others.  For those very reasons, the law allows the use of such testimony.  Indeed, it is

the law in federal courts that the testimony of such witnesses may be enough in itself

for conviction, if the jury finds that the testimony establishes guilt beyond a reasonable

doubt.

However, you have also been informed that Brian Shea signed a cooperation

agreement with the government and was advised that in exchange for his cooperation

and testimony at this trial, the government may recommend a lesser punishment when

he is sentenced for the crimes he pleaded guilty to.  

Similarly, David Rees, Brian Cooper, and Joseph Carr were promised that in

exchange for testifying truthfully, completely, and fully, they will not be prosecuted by

the federal government for any crimes that they may have admitted to either here in

court or in interviews with the prosecutors.  These promises were not formal orders of

12
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immunity by the court, but were arranged directly between these witnesses and the

government.

The government is permitted to enter into these kinds of agreements and

promises.  You, in turn, may accept the testimony of such a witness and convict the

defendants on the basis of his testimony alone, if it convinces you of the guilt of the

defendant under consideration beyond a reasonable doubt.

However, you should bear in mind that a witness who has entered into an

agreement with the government has an interest in this case different than any ordinary

witness's interest.  Witnesses who realize that they may be able to receive a lighter

sentence or not be prosecuted at all have a motive to testify falsely.  You should

examine their testimony with greater care than the testimony of an ordinary witness.

In evaluating the credibility of such witnesses' testimony, you should ask

yourselves whether they would benefit more by lying or by telling the truth.  Was their

testimony made up in any way because they believed or hoped that they would

somehow receive favorable treatment by testifying falsely?  Or did they believe that

13
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their interests would be best served by testifying truthfully?  If you believe that the

witnesses were motivated by hopes of personal gain, was the motivation one that would

cause them to lie or was it one that would cause them to tell the truth?  Did this

motivation color the witnesses' testimony?  Therefore, you must examine this testimony

with caution and weigh it with great care. 

Moreover, Brian Shea pleaded guilty in federal court to a felony charge of

corruptly interfering with the administration of the internal revenue laws.  Matthew

Rogers pleaded guilty in federal court to a felony charge of filing a false tax return. 

These two witnesses are therefore convicted felons.  A prior conviction of a felony is

one of the circumstances that you may consider in determining the credibility of a

witness.  You may decide to accept all, none, or part of such a witness's testimony as

true.

Further, Ronald Simons has pleaded guilty in federal court to a misdemeanor

charge of delivering and disclosing a false tax return.  If, after scrutinizing the testimony

of these witnesses, you decide to accept it, you may give it whatever weight, if any, you

14

Case 1:12-cr-00028-DNH   Document 96   Filed 02/01/13   Page 14 of 60



find it deserves.

However, you are instructed that you are to draw no conclusions or inferences of

any kind about the guilt of defendants Timothy M. McGinn and David L. Smith from the

fact that Brian Shea, Ronald Simons, and Matthew Rogers pleaded guilty to charges

stemming from related facts.  Mr. Shea's, Mr. Simons's, and Mr. Rogers's decision to

plead guilty was a personal decision about their own guilt.  It may not be used by you in

any way as evidence against or unfavorable to the defendants.

You have heard the testimony of Steven Rowen and Christopher Rattiner,

employees of the Financial Industry Regulation Authority (or "FINRA").  FINRA is a

private self-regulatory agency.  It is not a federal regulatory agency.  The testimony of

these witnesses is entitled to no greater or lesser weight than ordinary witnesses.

You also heard from Douglas Miller, Dianne Adelberg, and Alyssa Daversa,

agents with the Internal Revenue Service.  The fact that these witnesses are employed

by the federal government does not mean that their testimony deserves more or less

consideration, or greater or lesser weight, than that of an ordinary witness.  

At the same time, it is quite legitimate to try to attack the credibility of a federal official
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on the grounds that his or her testimony may be colored by a personal or professional

interest in the outcome of the case.  It is your decision, after reviewing all the evidence,

whether to accept or reject all or part of the testimony of these officials and to give to

that testimony whatever weight, if any, you find it deserves.

You have heard evidence that several witnesses made statements on an earlier

occasion that counsel argues is inconsistent with the witness's trial testimony. 

Evidence of a prior inconsistent statement is not to be considered by you as affirmative

evidence bearing on either defendant's guilt.  Evidence of the prior inconsistent

statement was placed before you for the limited purpose of helping you decide whether

to believe the trial testimony of the witnesses.  If you find that a witness made an earlier

statement that conflicts with his or her trial testimony, you may consider that fact in

deciding how much of his or her trial testimony, if any, to believe.

In making this determination, you may consider whether the witness purposely

made a false statement or whether it was an innocent mistake; whether the

inconsistency concerns an important fact, or whether it had to do with a minor detail;

16
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whether the witness had an explanation for the inconsistency, and whether that

explanation appealed to your common sense.

It is exclusively your duty, based upon all the evidence and your own good

judgment, to determine whether the prior statement was inconsistent, and if so how

much, if at all, it impacts your impression of the witness's testimony.

If you find that any witness has willfully testified falsely as to any material fact,

the law permits you to disregard completely the entire testimony of that witness upon

the principle that one who testifies falsely about one material fact is likely to testify

falsely about everything.  However, you are not required to consider such a witness

totally unworthy of belief.  You may accept so much of the testimony as you deem true,

and disregard what you feel is false.

By the processes that I have just described to you, you may, as the sole judges

of the facts, determine which of the witnesses, if any, you will believe, what portion of

their testimony you accept, and what weight you will give it. 

17
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V.  BURDEN OF PROOF

As a result of the defendants pleas of not guilty to the charges contained in the

superseding indictment, the burden is on the government to prove their individual guilt

beyond a reasonable doubt.  The law presumes the defendants to be innocent of the

charges against them.  I therefore instruct you that the defendants are to be presumed

innocent throughout your deliberations until such time, if ever, you as a unanimous jury

are satisfied that the government has proven either or both of them guilty beyond a

reasonable doubt.

The defendants Timothy M. McGinn and David L. Smith began this trial with a

clean slate.  This presumption of innocence alone is sufficient to acquit them unless you

as jurors are unanimously convinced of their guilt beyond a reasonable doubt after

careful and impartial consideration of all the evidence in this case.  If the government

fails to sustain its burden of proving the defendant under consideration guilty beyond a

reasonable doubt, you must find him not guilty.

I have said that the government must prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. 

18

Case 1:12-cr-00028-DNH   Document 96   Filed 02/01/13   Page 18 of 60



The question naturally is, "What is a reasonable doubt?"  The words almost define

themselves.  It is a doubt based upon reason and common sense.  It is a doubt that a

reasonable person has after carefully weighing all of the evidence.  It is a doubt that

would cause a reasonable person to hesitate to act in a matter of importance in his or

her personal life.  

Proof beyond a reasonable doubt must, therefore, be proof of such a convincing

character that a reasonable person would not hesitate to rely and act upon it in the

most important of his or her own affairs.  Proof beyond a reasonable doubt is proof that

leaves you firmly convinced of the guilt of the defendant under consideration.  A

reasonable doubt is not caprice or whim; it is not speculation or suspicion.  It is not an

excuse to avoid the performance of an unpleasant duty.  And it is not sympathy.

In a criminal case, the burden is at all times upon the government to prove guilt

beyond a reasonable doubt.  The law does not require that the government prove guilt

beyond all possible doubt; proof beyond a reasonable doubt is sufficient to convict. 

Again, this burden never shifts to either defendant, which means that it is always the
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government's burden to prove each of the elements of the crimes charged against each

individual defendant beyond a reasonable doubt.

If the government's evidence gives equal or nearly equal circumstantial support

to competing explanations for an element of a charge, one consistent with the

prosecution's theory of guilt but the other an equally plausible innocent reason for the

same facts as offered by the defense, then you must necessarily entertain a reasonable

doubt as to the truth of an element of the charge and, therefore, find the defendant

under consideration not guilty of that charge.

Under your oath as jurors, you are not to be swayed by sympathy.  You are to be

guided solely by the evidence, or lack of evidence, introduced in this trial.  It is for you to

decide, on the basis of the evidence I have admitted and the law on which I will instruct

you, whether the government has proven that the defendant under consideration is

guilty of the crimes charged.  If, after fair and impartial consideration of all of the

evidence, you are not firmly convinced of that defendant's guilt, you must give him the

benefit of the doubt and find him not guilty on that count.  On the other hand, if you are
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firmly and unanimously convinced that the defendant under consideration is guilty of the

count under consideration, you must vote to convict.  

I will now charge you on the law that you are to apply as to the criminal charges

in this case.  Before instructing you on the particular elements of the crimes charged, I

remind you that nothing said in these instructions is to suggest or convey in any way or

manner what verdict I think you should find.  Similarly, any witness commentary as to

the issue of either defendant's innocence or guilt is irrelevant.  What the verdict shall be

is the sole and exclusive responsibility and duty of you, the jury.

VI.  CRIMES CHARGED

Let me now turn to the charges against the defendants Timothy M. McGinn and

David L. Smith contained in the superseding indictment.  A copy of the superseding

indictment will be sent into the jury room with you.  I remind you that an indictment itself

is not evidence.  It merely describes the charges against the defendants.  It is an

accusation.  It may not be considered by you as any evidence of guilt.  Your job is

limited to deciding whether the government has proven one or more of the crimes
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charged against the defendants in the superseding indictment.  In reaching your

decision of whether the government has proven the defendant under consideration

guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, you may consider only the evidence introduced, or

lack of evidence, with regard to that defendant.  A defendant's guilt is individual, and

your verdict as to each defendant must be determined separately with respect to him,

without regard to the guilt or innocence of anyone else.

Again, the defendants have pleaded not guilty to the charges contained in the

superseding indictment, thus requiring the government to establish each element of the

crimes charged by proof beyond a reasonable doubt.  The superseding indictment

contains thirty-two (32) total counts—twenty-nine (29) against defendant Timothy M.

McGinn and twenty-nine (29) against defendant David L. Smith.  You must consider

each count and each defendant's involvement in that count separately, and you must

return a separate verdict of not guilty or guilty for each defendant on each count.

The superseding indictment charges that specific acts occurred on specific dates

and involved specific amounts of money.  However, the law only requires a substantial
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similarity between the dates and amounts alleged in the superseding indictment and

those established by testimony or exhibits at trial. 

A.  COUNT 1:  CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT MAIL AND WIRE FRAUD

Count 1 of the superseding indictment charges both defendants with conspiracy

to commit mail and wire fraud in violation of Title 18, United States Code, section 1349. 

Generally, it is alleged that from about September 29, 2006, through about April 20,

2010, defendants conspired to commit mail and wire fraud for the purpose of

misleading investors and FINRA in order to obtain money from investors and enrich

themselves.

The crime of conspiracy to commit mail and wire fraud is an independent

offense.  It is separate and distinct from the actual crimes of mail and wire fraud, which

the law refers to as "substantive crimes."  It is not necessary for the government to

prove that the conspiracy was successful.  Indeed, you may find the defendant under

consideration guilty of the crime of conspiracy to commit mail and wire fraud even

though the substantive crime of mail or wire fraud was not actually committed.
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In order to satisfy its burden of proof on Count 1, the government must establish

the following four essential elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

1.  First Element

The first element that the government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt is

that two or more persons entered into an unlawful agreement to commit mail and wire

fraud starting on or about September 29, 2006.  

A conspiracy is an agreement among two or more persons to achieve an

unlawful object.  In this case, the alleged unlawful object of the conspiracy was to

commit mail and wire fraud in order to mislead investors and FINRA.

To show a conspiratorial agreement, the government is not required to prove that

two or more people met together and entered into any express or formal agreement. 

Similarly, you need not find that the alleged conspirators stated, in words or writing,

what the scheme was, its object or purpose, or every precise detail of the alleged

scheme.  The government need only show that there was a mutual understanding,

either spoken or unspoken, between two or more people to cooperate with each other
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to accomplish the unlawful act.

You may, of course, find that the existence of an agreement to commit mail and

wire fraud has been established by direct proof.  However, since conspiracy is, by its

very nature, characterized by secrecy, you may also infer its existence from the

circumstances of this case and the conduct of the parties involved.

Also, it is not necessary for the government to prove that the conspiracy lasted

throughout the entire period alleged—that is, from September 29, 2006, to April 20,

2010—but only that it existed for some time within that period.

If you find that there was no conspiracy to commit mail and wire fraud in

existence from about September 29, 2006, to about April 20, 2010, then you must find

the defendant under consideration not guilty of Count 1.  If, however, you find beyond a

reasonable doubt that such a conspiracy existed, you must continue and consider the

second element of Count 1.

2.  Second Element

The second element that the government must prove beyond a reasonable
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doubt is that the defendant under consideration knowingly and willfully became a

member of the conspiracy.  

A person acts "knowingly" if he acts intentionally and voluntarily, and not

because of ignorance, mistake, accident, or carelessness.  To act "willfully" means to

act purposely and with an intent to do something unlawful.  Thus, a defendant enters

into a conspiracy "knowingly and willfully" if he joins and participates in the conspiracy

with knowledge of, and the intent to further, its unlawful object.  Whether a defendant

acted knowingly and willfully may be proven by his conduct and by all of the facts and

circumstances surrounding the case.

It is not necessary, however, that a defendant be fully informed of all the details

of the conspiracy or all of its participants.  On the other hand, mere association by a

defendant with a conspirator does not itself make the defendant a member of the

conspiracy, even if he knows of the conspiracy.  In other words, knowledge is not

enough; the defendant himself must have intentionally participated in the conspiracy

with the purpose of helping to achieve at least one of its unlawful objects.
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If you find that the defendant under consideration did not knowingly and willfully

join the conspiracy to commit mail and wire fraud, then you must find him not guilty of

Count 1.  If, however, you find beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant under

consideration knowingly and willfully became a member of the conspiracy, then you

must consider the third element.

3.  Third Element

The third element that the government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt is

that some member of the conspiracy knowingly committed at least one of the overt acts

listed in paragraphs 80 through 100 of the superseding indictment.  Again, a copy of the

superseding indictment will be sent into the jury room with you.

An "overt act" is any action intended to help achieve the object of the conspiracy. 

An overt act need not itself be a criminal act, but it must contribute to furthering the

conspiracy.  The government is not required to prove that all of the overt acts alleged in

the superseding indictment occurred.  One overt act, knowingly committed by a

member of the conspiracy at or about the time and place alleged, is sufficient. 
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Similarly, you need not find that the defendant under consideration committed the overt

act.  It is sufficient if one of the conspirators knowingly committed the overt act since

such an act becomes, in the eyes of the law, the act of all of the members of the

conspiracy.

If you find that no members of the conspiracy committed an overt act as detailed

in paragraphs 80 through 100 of the superseding indictment, then you must find the

defendant under consideration not guilty of Count 1.  If, on the other hand, you find

beyond a reasonable doubt that a member of the conspiracy committed at least one

such overt act, then you must consider the fourth element.

4.  Fourth Element

The fourth and final element that the government must prove beyond a

reasonable doubt with respect to Count 1 is that the overt act(s) was (were) committed

to further some objective of the conspiracy to commit mail and wire fraud.  The alleged

objectives of the conspiracy to commit mail and wire fraud were to mislead investors

and FINRA in order to obtain money from investors and enrich the defendants.
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In order to meet its burden on this element, the government must show that the

overt act(s) that you found to have occurred was (were) committed in furtherance of

some object or purpose of the conspiracy.  Again, the overt act, standing alone, may be

an innocent lawful act.  However, if that act is a step in carrying out, promoting, aiding,

or assisting the conspiracy, then this element is established.

If you find that the overt act(s) was (were) not committed to further some

objective of the conspiracy to commit mail and wire fraud, then you must find the

defendant under consideration not guilty of Count 1.  However, if you find that the overt

act(s) was (were) committed to further an objective of the conspiracy, then you must

find the defendant under consideration guilty of Count 1. 

B. COUNTS 2–10:  MAIL FRAUD

Counts 2 through 10 charge both defendants with mail fraud in violation of Title 

18, United States Code, section 1341.  It is alleged that on specific dates from October

2007 to September 2009 defendants caused specific documents or checks to be

mailed in furtherance of a scheme to defraud investors by soliciting investments under
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false pretenses or by concealing material information.

Each specific date, and the specific documents or checks mailed on that date,

constitutes a separate count of mail fraud.  These counts are detailed on page 28 of the

superseding indictment and reflected in the stipulations contained in Court's Exhibit 1a. 

You must consider each count separately and return a verdict for each defendant on

each of these counts. 

In order to sustain its burden of proof on these counts, the government must

prove the following four essential elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

1.  First Element

The first element that the government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt is

that there was a scheme to defraud investors or to obtain money or property by

soliciting investments under false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, or

promises or through the concealment of or failure to disclose information.

A "scheme" is merely a plan for the accomplishment of an object.  A scheme to

defraud is any plan, device, or course of action to obtain money or property by means
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of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises reasonably calculated to

deceive persons of average prudence.  

"Fraud" is a general term that embraces all the various means which human

ingenuity can devise and which are resorted to by an individual to gain an advantage

over another by false representations, suggestions, suppression of the truth, or

deliberate disregard for the truth.

Thus, a "scheme to defraud" is merely a plan to deprive another of money or

property by trick, deceit, deception, or swindle.  A scheme to defraud need not be

shown by direct evidence, but may be established by all of the circumstances and facts

in the case.  

In this case, the alleged scheme to defraud was allegedly carried out by making

or providing false or fraudulent statements, representations, or documents to investors

or by failing to disclose certain information to investors, all in order to deprive the

investors of money.

A statement, representation, claim, or document is false if it is untrue when made
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and was then known to be untrue by the person making it or causing it to be made.  A

representation or statement is fraudulent if it was falsely made with the intention to

deceive.

Deceitful statements of half truths or the concealment of material facts, and the

expression of an opinion not honestly entertained may also constitute false or

fraudulent statements under the statute.  The deception need not be premised upon

spoken or written words alone.  The arrangement of the words, or the circumstances in

which they are used may convey the false and deceptive appearance.  If there is

deception, the manner in which it is accomplished is immaterial.

The failure to disclose information may also constitute a fraudulent

representation if the defendant under consideration was under a legal, professional,

contractual, or fiduciary duty to make such a disclosure, he actually knew such

disclosure was required, and he failed to make such disclosure with the intent to

defraud.

Whether a fiduciary relationship exists is a matter of fact for you, the jury, to
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determine.  A fiduciary duty arises where there is a relationship of trust and confidence. 

At the heart of the fiduciary relationship lies reliance and de facto control.  The

relationship exists when confidence is reposed on one side and there is resulting

superiority and influence on the other.  One acts in a fiduciary capacity when the

business which he transacts or the money which he handles is not his own or for his

own benefit but for the benefit of another person, as to whom he stands in a relation

implying and necessitating great confidence and trust on the one part and a high

degree of good faith on the other part.

A fiduciary has a duty to disclose all material facts concerning the transaction

entrusted to it.  The concealment by a fiduciary of material information that he is under

a duty to disclose to another, under circumstances where the non-disclosure can or

does result in harm to the other, can be a violation of the statute, if the government has

proven the other elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. 

In addition to proving that a statement was false or fraudulent, the government

must prove that the alleged scheme contemplated depriving another of money or
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property.  However, the government is not required to prove that the defendant under

consideration originated the scheme to defraud.  Further, it is not necessary that the

government prove that the defendant actually realized any gain from the scheme or that

the intended victims actually suffered any loss.  In this case, the government contends

that investors were defrauded and that the defendants profited.  Although whether the

scheme actually succeeded is not the question, you may consider whether it succeeded

in determining whether the scheme existed.

If, after considering all of the evidence in this case, you find that there was not a

scheme to defraud investors or to obtain money or property by soliciting investments

under false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises or through the

concealment of or failure to disclose information, then you must find the defendant

under consideration not guilty of the count under consideration.  If, on the other hand,

you find that the government has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that such a

scheme to defraud existed, then you must proceed to the second element.
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2.  Second Element

The second element that the government must prove beyond a reasonable

doubt is that the false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises or

concealed information was "material."

A material fact is one that would be of importance to a reasonable person in

relying upon the representation or statement in making a decision about a particular

matter, such as with respect to a proposed investment.  That means that if you find a

particular representation or statement to have been false, you must determine whether

that statement was one that a reasonable person or investor might have considered

important in making his or her decision.  The same principle applies to fraudulent half

truths or omissions of material facts.

If you find that the false representations or statements or concealed information

detailed in the count under consideration was not material, then you must find the

defendant under consideration not guilty of that count.  If, however, you find beyond a

reasonable doubt that the false representations or statements or concealed information
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was material, then you must consider the third element.

3.  Third Element

The third element that government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt is

that the defendant under consideration knowingly and willfully participated in the

scheme, with knowledge of its fraudulent nature and with specific intent to defraud.

I have already defined "knowingly" and "willfully" for you.  "Intent to defraud"

means to act knowingly and with the specific intent to deceive, for the purpose of

causing some financial or property loss to another.

The question of whether a person acted knowingly, willfully, and with intent to

defraud is a question of fact for you to determine, like any other fact question.  This

question involves one's state of mind.  Direct proof of knowledge and fraudulent intent

is almost never available, and it is not required.  The ultimate facts of knowledge and

criminal intent, though subjective, may be established by circumstantial evidence,

based upon a person's words, conduct, acts, and all surrounding circumstances

disclosed by the evidence and the rational or logical inferences that may be drawn from
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them.

Therefore, if you find that the defendant under consideration was not a knowing

participant in the scheme to defraud investors of money or property, or that he lacked

the specific intent to defraud, you must find him not guilty of the mail fraud count under

consideration.  On the other hand, if you find that the government has established

beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant under consideration was a knowing

participant in the scheme to defraud investors and that he acted with the specific intent

to defraud, then you must consider the fourth element.

4.  Fourth Element

The fourth and final element of the mail fraud counts that the government must

prove beyond a reasonable doubt is that the defendant under consideration used the

mails or caused the mails to be used to advance, further, or carry out the scheme to

defraud investors.  

The mailed matter need not contain a fraudulent representation or purpose or

request for money.  It must, however, further or assist in the carrying out of the scheme
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to defraud.  It is not necessary for the defendant under consideration to be directly

involved in the mailing, as long as the mailing was reasonably foreseeable in the

execution of the scheme to defraud.

The parties have stipulated that each of the documents and checks described in

Counts 2 through 10 on page 28 of the superseding indictment—and detailed in Court's

Exhibit 1a—was sent through the mails.  They dispute, however, whether these

mailings were sent in furtherance of the alleged scheme to defraud investors.

If you find that the defendant under consideration did not use the mails or cause

the mails to be used to further the scheme to defraud investors, then you must find him

not guilty of the mail fraud count under consideration.  However, if you find that the

government has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that there was a scheme to

defraud investors in which the defendant under consideration knowingly participated

with the specific intent to defraud and, in furtherance of this scheme to defraud, he

used the mails or caused the mails to be used, then you must find him guilty of the mail

fraud count under consideration.
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C. COUNTS 11–20:  WIRE FRAUD

Counts 11 through 20 charge both defendants with wire fraud in violation of Title

18, United States Code, section 1343.  Similar to the mail fraud counts, it is alleged that

on specific dates between April 2008 to July 2009 defendants devised a scheme to

defraud investors by soliciting investments under false pretenses and concealing

material information, and that defendants knowingly transmitted information through

interstate wire communications such as faxes and wire transfers to further this scheme.

Each specific date, and the specific faxes and wire transfers transmitted on that

date, constitutes a separate count of wire fraud.  These counts are listed on pages 29

and 30 of the superseding indictment and reflected in the stipulations contained in

Court's Exhibit 1a.  You must consider each count separately and return a verdict for

each defendant on each of these counts. 

In order to sustain its burden of proof for these counts, the government must

prove four essential elements beyond a reasonable doubt.  The first three elements of

wire fraud are exactly the same as the first three elements of mail fraud I just
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discussed.  Therefore, when you consider each wire fraud count, you should apply the

first three elements of the mail fraud counts as described above.  The only difference

between mail and wire fraud is a slight variation in the fourth element.  If you determine

the government has proven the first three elements of the wire fraud count under

consideration beyond a reasonable doubt, then you must continue to consider the

fourth element. 

The fourth and final element of the wire fraud counts that the government must

prove beyond a reasonable doubt is that the defendant under consideration used or

caused to be used an interstate wire communication to advance, further, or carry out

the scheme to defraud investors.  

You will notice that Counts 18 and 19 allege multiple wire transfers.  It is not

necessary for the government to prove that every one of the wire transfers alleged in

each of these counts was made in furtherance of the scheme to defraud.  Any one is

sufficient for a conviction on the count under consideration, if you so find, but you must

be unanimous as to which wire transfer was made in furtherance of the scheme to
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defraud. 

The use of the wires need not itself be a fraudulent representation.  It must,

however, further or assist in the carrying out of the scheme to defraud.  It is not

necessary for the defendant under consideration to be directly or personally involved in

the wire communication, as long as the communication was reasonably foreseeable in

the execution of the scheme to defraud.

The parties have stipulated that each of the faxes and wire transfers described in

Counts 11 through 20 on pages 29 and 30 of the superseding indictment—and detailed

in Court's Exhibit 1a—was knowingly transmitted by means of wire communications in

interstate commerce.  They dispute, however, whether these wires were sent in

furtherance of the alleged scheme to defraud.

If you find that the defendant under consideration did not use or cause to be

used an interstate wire communication to further the scheme to defraud investors, then

you must find him not guilty of the count under consideration.  However, if you find that

the government has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that there was a scheme to
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defraud investors in which the defendant under consideration knowingly participated

with the specific intent to defraud and, in furtherance of this scheme to defraud, he

used or caused to be used an interstate wire communication, then you must find him

guilty of the wire fraud count under consideration.

D. COUNTS 21–26:  SECURITIES FRAUD

Counts 21 through 26 charge both defendants with securities fraud with respect

to specific communications that occurred on specific dates between January 2008 and

November 2008 and related to two trusts—TDM Verifier Trust 08 and Fortress Trust 08. 

These charges involve alleged violations of Title 15, United States Code, section 78j(b)

and Rule 10b-5 as promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission.  

As you will see on page 31 of the superseding indictment and in the stipulations

contained in Court's Exhibit 1a, specific wire transfers and an email are associated with

specific dates.  Each grouping of dates and communications constitutes a separate

count of securities fraud.  Again, you must consider each count separately and return a

verdict for each defendant on each of these counts. 
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In order to sustain its burden of proof on these counts, the government must

prove the following three essential elements beyond a reasonable doubt: 

1.  First Element

The first element that the government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt is

that in connection with the purchase or sale of TDM Verifier Trust 08 (for Counts 21 and

22) or Fortress Trust 08 (for Counts 23 through 26) the defendant under consideration

did any one or more of the following:

(1)  employed a device or scheme to defraud, or

(2)  made an untrue statement of material fact or failed to state a material

fact which made what was said misleading under the circumstances, or

(3)  engaged in an act, practice, or course of business that operated, or

would operate, as a fraud or deceit upon a purchaser or seller.

It is not necessary for the government to establish all three types of unlawful

conduct in connection with the sales or purchases of these trusts.  Any one is sufficient

for a conviction, if you so find, but you must be unanimous as to which type of unlawful
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conduct you find has been proven.

As I already explained, a device or scheme to defraud is merely a plan for the

accomplishment of any objective.  Fraud is a general term that embraces all efforts and

means that individuals devise to take advantage of others.  The law that the defendants

are alleged to have violated prohibits all kinds of manipulative and deceptive acts.

The fraudulent or deceitful conduct alleged need not relate to the investment

value of the securities involved in this case.  

You need not find that the defendant under consideration actually participated in

any securities transaction if he was engaged in fraudulent conduct that was "in

connection with" a purchase or sale.  The "in connection with" aspect of this element is

satisfied if you find that there was some nexus or relation between the allegedly

fraudulent conduct and the sale or purchase of securities.  Fraudulent conduct may be

"in connection with" the purchase or sale of securities if you find that it "touched upon" a

securities transaction.

It is no defense to an overall scheme to defraud that the defendant was not
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involved in the scheme from its inception or played only a minor role with no contact

with the investors and purchasers of the securities in question.  Nor is it necessary for

you to find that the defendant under consideration was the actual seller or offeror of the

securities.  It is sufficient if the defendant participated in the scheme or fraudulent

conduct that involved the purchase or sale of the securities.  By the same token, the

government need not prove that the defendant personally made the misrepresentation

or that he omitted the material fact.  It is sufficient if the government establishes that the

defendant caused the statement to be made or the fact to be omitted.  With regard to

the alleged misrepresentations and omissions, you must determine whether the

statement was true or false when it was made and whether the omission was

misleading.

If you find that the government has established beyond a reasonable doubt that

a statement was false or omitted, you must next determine whether the fact misstated

was "material" under the circumstances.  Again, a material fact is one that would have

been significant to a reasonable investor's investment decision.  This is not to say that
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the government must prove that the misrepresentation would have deceived a person

of ordinary intelligence.  If you find that there was a material representation or an

omission of a material fact, it does not matter whether the intended victims were gullible

buyers or sophisticated investors.  Securities laws protect the gullible and

unsophisticated as well as the experienced investor.  

Nor does it matter whether the alleged unlawful conduct was successful, or that

the defendant profited or received any benefit as a result of the alleged scheme. 

Success is not an element of the crime charged.  However, if you find that the

defendant did profit from the alleged scheme, you may consider that in relation to the

third element of intent, which I will discuss in a moment.

If you find that, in connection with the purchase or sale of TDM Verifier Trust 08

(for Counts 21 and 22) or Fortress Trust 08 (for Counts 23 through 26), the defendant

under consideration did not do any of the three types of unlawful conduct I just

described, then you must find him not guilty of the securities fraud count under

consideration.  On the other hand, if you find beyond a reasonable doubt that the
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defendant under consideration engaged in one or more of the three types of unlawful

conduct in connection with the sales or purchases related to these two trusts, then you

must consider the second element.

2.  Second Element

The second element that the government must prove beyond a reasonable

doubt is that the defendant under consideration acted willfully, knowingly, and with the

intent to defraud.  I have already defined the terms "willfully," "knowingly," and "intent to

defraud" in the third element of the mail fraud counts above.

If you find that the defendant under consideration did not act willfully, knowingly,

and with the intent to defraud when he engaged in the unlawful conduct you found in

the first element, then you must find him not guilty of the count under consideration. 

However, if you find beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant under consideration

acted willfully, knowingly, and with the intent to defraud when he engaged in the

unlawful conduct you found in the first element, then you must consider the third

element.
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3.  Third Element

The third and final element the government must prove beyond a reasonable

doubt in relation to the securities fraud charges is that the defendant under

consideration knowingly used, or caused to be used, any means of communication in

interstate commerce in furtherance of the unlawful fraudulent conduct.  The interstate

communications involved here are wire transfers and an email.

You will notice that Counts 21, 23, and 24 allege multiple wire transfers.  It is not

necessary for the government to prove that every one of the wire transfers alleged in

each of these counts was made in furtherance of the unlawful conduct.  Any one is

sufficient for a conviction on the count under consideration, if you so find, but you must

be unanimous as to which wire transfer was made in furtherance of the unlawful

conduct.

Like the mail and wire fraud counts, it is not necessary that the defendant under

consideration be directly or personally involved in the wire transfers and email.  It is

sufficient if he was an active participant in the scheme and engaged in conduct that he
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knew or could reasonably foresee would probably result in the use of the wire transfers

and email.

Nor is it necessary that the items sent by means of the wire transfers and email

contained fraudulent material or anything criminal.  Further, the use of wire transfers

and email need not be central to the execution of the scheme.  All that is required is

that the wire transfers and email bear some relation to the object of the scheme or

fraudulent conduct.  In fact, the actual purchase or sale related to the trusts need not be

accompanied by the use of wire transfers and email, so long as the defendant under

consideration is still engaged in actions that are a part of the fraudulent scheme.

The parties have stipulated that each of the wire transfers and the email

described in Counts 21 through 26 on page 31 of the superseding indictment—and

detailed in Court's Exhibit 1a—was knowingly transmitted by means of communications

in interstate commerce.  They dispute, however, whether the wire transfers and the

email were sent in furtherance of the alleged scheme to defraud.

If you find that the defendant under consideration did not use or caused to be
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used the wire transfers or email to further the unlawful fraudulent conduct, then you

must find him not guilty of the securities fraud count under consideration.  However, if

you find that the government has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant

under consideration knowingly used or caused to be used the wire transfers or email to

further the unlawful conduct, then you must find him guilty of the count under

consideration.

E. GOOD FAITH DEFENSE

As you can see, an essential element of the mail fraud, wire fraud, and securities

fraud causes of action (Counts 2–26) is a specific intent to defraud.  As I already

explained, the government must establish such a specific intent in the third element of

the mail and wire fraud counts and in the second element of the securities fraud counts.

It follows that "good faith" on the part of the defendant under consideration is a

complete defense to these charges.  The defendants, however, have no burden to

establish a defense of good faith.  The burden is on the government to prove fraudulent

intent and the consequent lack of good faith beyond a reasonable doubt.
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Even false representations or statements, or omissions of material facts, do not

amount to a fraud unless done with fraudulent intent.  However misleading or deceptive

a plan may be, it is not fraudulent if it was devised or carried out in good faith.  An

honest belief in the truthfulness and completeness of the representations made by a

defendant is a good defense, however inaccurate or incomplete the statements may

turn out to be.

There is another consideration to bear in mind in deciding whether or not the

defendant under consideration acted in good faith.  You are instructed that if the

defendant participated in a scheme to defraud, then a belief by the defendant that

ultimately everything would work out so that no one would lose any money does not

require a finding, by you, that he acted in good faith.  If the defendant under

consideration participated in the scheme for the purpose of causing some financial or

property loss to another, then no amount of honest belief on his part that the scheme

would ultimately make a profit for the investors will excuse fraudulent actions, false

representations, or material omissions by him.
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As a practical matter, then, in order to sustain the mail, wire, and securities fraud

charges against the defendant under consideration, the government must establish

beyond a reasonable doubt that he knew that his conduct as a participant in the

scheme was calculated to deceive and, nonetheless, he associated himself with the

alleged fraudulent scheme for the purpose of causing some financial loss to another.

F. COUNTS 27–32:  FILING FALSE TAX RETURNS

Counts 27 through 32 charge the defendants with filing false tax returns in

violation of Title 26, United States Code, section 7206(1).  Defendant Timothy M.

McGinn is charged with filing false tax returns for tax years 2006 (Count 27), 2007

(Count 28), and 2008 (Count 29).  Similarly, defendant David L. Smith is charged with

filing false tax returns for tax years 2006 (Count 30), 2007 (Count 31), and 2008 (Count

32).  The government alleges that the total income the defendants had received during

each of these tax years was substantially more than they reported in their tax returns. 

Again, you must consider each count and each defendant separately.  Unlike the mail,

wire, and securities fraud counts, the defense of good faith is not applicable to the filing
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false tax returns charges.

In order to sustain its burden of proof on these counts, the government must

prove the following four essential elements beyond a reasonable doubt: 

1.  First and Second Elements

The first element that the government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt is

that the defendant under consideration signed and filed a tax return for the year in

question.  The second element is that the tax return contained a written declaration that

it was made under penalty of perjury.

I instruct you that the first and second elements of Counts 27 through 32 are

established.  Indeed, as reflected in Court's Exhibit 1a, the parties have stipulated that

both defendants filed or caused to be filed tax returns that were prepared in the

Northern District of New York, were verified by written declarations that they were made

under penalty of perjury, and were filed with the Internal Revenue Service for tax years

2006, 2007, and 2008.  They further stipulate that these tax returns reported the

amount of income reflected on pages 32 and 33 of the superseding indictment and in
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the chart on the bottom of page five of Court's Exhibit 1a.  Therefore, you should begin

your deliberations for Counts 27 through 32 with the third element.

2.  Third Element

The third element that the government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt is

that the defendant under consideration did not believe the tax return to be true and

correct as to every material matter.  To prove this element, the government must prove

that the tax return involved in the count under consideration contained a materially false

statement and that the defendant under consideration knew it was materially false.

The false statement in the tax return must be material.  This means that it must

be essential to an accurate determination of the defendant's tax liability.

An income tax return may be false not only by reason of understatement of

income, but also because of an overstatement of lawful deductions or because

deductible expenses are mischaracterized on the return.

There has been testimony and argument about whether certain money the

defendants received—as outlined in paragraph 55 of the superseding indictment—were

54

Case 1:12-cr-00028-DNH   Document 96   Filed 02/01/13   Page 54 of 60



loans or income.  Under the Internal Revenue Code, a taxpayer is not required to report

a legitimate loan as income on his tax return.  If the purported loan is not legitimate,

however, the taxpayer must report it as income.  A legitimate, non-reportable loan is

identified by a mutual understanding between the borrower and the lender of the

obligation to repay the loan and a bona fide intent on the borrower's part, at the time he

received the funds, to repay them.  In determining whether the defendant under

consideration had such a bona fide intent to repay the funds, you may consider all of

the evidence and circumstances of the case.

Therefore, if you determine that at the time the defendant under consideration

received the funds detailed in paragraph 55 of the superseding indictment he had a

bona fide intent to repay that money, then he was not required to report this as income

on his tax return.  If, however, the defendant under consideration lacked such an intent

to repay the money at the time he received it, then he was obligated to report it as

income on his tax return. 

The government must also prove that the defendant under consideration knew
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the statement in the return was materially false.  I have already defined the term

"knowingly" for you.  Whether the defendant under consideration acted knowingly may

be proven by his conduct and by all of that facts and circumstances surrounding the

case.

If you determine that the tax return involved in the count under consideration did

not contain a materially false statement or that the defendant under consideration did

not know it contained such a statement, then you must find the defendant under

consideration not guilty of the count under consideration.  If, on the other hand, you find

beyond a reasonable doubt that the tax return at issue contained a materially false

statement of which the defendant under consideration knew, then you must consider

the fourth element.

3.  Fourth Element

The fourth and final element that the government must prove beyond a

reasonable doubt is that the defendant under consideration acted willfully.  I have

already defined the term "willfully" for you.  In short, the government must establish that
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the defendant under consideration acted voluntarily and intentionally with the specific

intent to make a false statement on the tax return involved in the count under

consideration, despite knowing that it was his legal duty to answer truthfully.

If, after considering all of the evidence in this case, you determine that the

defendant under consideration did not act willfully, then you must find him not guilty of

the count under consideration.  If, however, you find that the government has proven

beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant under consideration willfully caused a

tax return to be filed with a statement that he knew to be materially false, then you must

find him guilty of the count under consideration.

VII.  PUNISHMENT

As a final matter, I instruct you that the question of possible punishment of the

defendants is of no concern to you, and should not, in any sense, enter into or influence

your deliberations.  Your only concern is to determine innocence or guilt.  You make

that determination by weighing the evidence as I have explained, drawing the

inferences that you find warranted, and finding the facts to which you apply the law as I
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gave it to you in these instructions.  A consideration of the type or extent of any

penalties that may or may not be imposed has no place in that process.  You are not to

be swayed or influenced or concerned in any way by the question of any punishment

that might be imposed.  You must not even discuss punishment in the jury room.

VIII.  CONCLUSION

I have outlined the rules of law applicable to this case and the processes by

which you should weigh the evidence and determine the facts.  In a few minutes, you

will retire to the jury room for your deliberations.  Your first order of business in the jury

room will be to elect a foreperson.  The foreperson's responsibility is to ensure that

deliberations proceed in an orderly manner, but of course, the foreperson's vote is not

entitled to any greater weight than the vote of any other juror.

 Your job as jurors is to reach a fair and just verdict from the law and evidence. 

When you are in the jury room, listen to each other, and discuss the evidence and

issues.  It is the duty of each of you, as jurors, to consult with each other, and to

deliberate with a view to reaching an agreement, if you can do so without violating your
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individual judgment and conscience. 

Remember in your deliberations that this case is very important to the

government and, of course, the defendants.  I know you will give full and conscientious

consideration to the issues and the evidence before you.  You must do justice in

accordance with the facts and the law.

If, in the course of your deliberations, your recollection of any part of the

testimony should fail, it is your privilege to return to the courtroom to have the testimony

read back to you.  During the trial, various documents were received into evidence. 

Most will be sent into the jury room with you.  Please advise me if you wish to receive

any other items that were received in evidence but not sent into the jury room.

Should you desire to communicate with me during your deliberation, please put

your message or question in writing.  The foreperson should sign the note and pass it to

the Marshal who will bring it to my attention.  I will then respond, either in writing or

orally by having you returned to the courtroom.  I caution you, however, that in your

communications with me, or anyone else, you should never state how you stand on any
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issue, or your division by number, until after a unanimous verdict is reached.

Your verdict, whether not guilty or guilty as to each defendant on each count,

must be unanimous.

You have already been provided with Preliminary Instructions (Court's Exhibit

No. 1) and the stipulations (Court's Exhibit No. 1a).  A copy of the superseding

indictment (Court's Exhibit No. 2) will be sent into the jury room.  Each of you have now

been provided with these instructions (Court's Exhibit No. 3) and the Verdict Forms

(Court's Exhibit Nos. 4a and 4b). 

Once you have reached a unanimous verdict on all counts against each

defendant, your foreperson should complete only the original verdict form.  All of you

must sign the original verdict form.  Then inform the Marshal that a unanimous verdict

has been reached.  You will then be returned to the courtroom and your verdict will be

announced in open court.
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       INITIAL DECISION RELEASE NO. 566 
       ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
       FILE NO.  3-15461 

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

Before the 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

Washington, D.C. 20549 
      
In the Matter of   : INITIAL DECISION MAKING FINDINGS AND 
     : IMPOSING SANCTION BY DEFAULT AS TO 
TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and : TIMOTHY M. MCGINN 
DAVID L. SMITH     : February 20, 2014 
       

 
SUMMARY 

 
 This Initial Decision bars Timothy M. McGinn (McGinn) from the securities industry.1 
  

I.  BACKGROUND 

The Securities and Exchange Commission (Commission) instituted this proceeding with an 
Order Instituting Proceedings (OIP) on September 6, 2013, pursuant to Sections 15(b) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange Act) and 203(f) of the Investment Advisers Act of 
1940 (Advisers Act).  The OIP alleges that McGinn was convicted of mail, wire, and securities 
fraud and other offenses.  McGinn appeared, through counsel, at a December 18, 2013, prehearing 
conference; counsel advised that McGinn was planning to execute an Offer of Settlement that 
would resolve the proceeding against him.  However, McGinn did not execute an Offer of 
Settlement;2 nor has he filed an Answer to the OIP, which was due within twenty days of service of 
the OIP.  See OIP at 3; 17 C.F.R. § 201.220(b).  The Division of Enforcement filed a motion for 
default on January 31, 2014, and McGinn did not respond.  Accordingly, McGinn has failed to 
answer or otherwise to defend the proceeding within the meaning of 17 C.F.R. § 201.155(a)(2).  
Therefore, McGinn is in default, and the undersigned finds that the allegations in the OIP are true as 
to him.  See OIP at 3; 17 C.F.R. §§ 201.155(a), .220(f).  

II.  FINDINGS OF FACT 
 
 McGinn was convicted of mail, wire, and securities fraud, conspiracy to commit mail and 
wire fraud, and filing a false tax return, in violation of 15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b), 78ff; 18 U.S. C. §§ 
1341, 1343; and 26 U.S.C. § 7206(l).  United States v. McGinn, No. 1:12-cr-00028 (N.D.N.Y. Aug. 
                                                 
1 The proceeding has been stayed as to David L. Smith, who has executed an Offer of Settlement 
that will resolve the proceeding as to him.  See Timothy M. McGinn, Admin. Proc. Rulings Release 
No. 1112, 2013 SEC LEXIS (A.L.J. Dec. 18, 2013).  
 
2 The Division of Enforcement (Division) represents that counsel for McGinn informed the Division 
on January 9, 2014, that McGinn did not intend to enter an Offer of Settlement.  
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13, 2013).  He was sentenced to 180 months of incarceration and a three-year term of post-release 
supervision and ordered to pay $5,992,800 in restitution and a $100,000 criminal monetary penalty.  
Id.  At the August 7, 2013, sentencing hearing, the court noted the “very seriousness of the crimes” 
and described McGinn as an “arrogant” man who ran his business for his personal benefit and that 
of his favorite clients “regardless of the law or the rules.”  Transcript (Tr.) at 34, 37.  The court 
further stated, “There is a reasonable foreseeable risk that [McGinn] may engage in criminal 
conduct similar or related to the present offense or [his] past criminal conduct.”  Tr. at 40. 
 

McGinn was a founder and primary owner of McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc., a broker-dealer 
based in Albany, New York, from 1981 through August 2012.  He was also an indirect owner of 
McGinn Smith Advisors, LLC, which was registered with the Commission as an investment advisor 
from January 2006 to April 2009.  Through various securities offerings from 2006 through 2009, 
McGinn and another devised schemes to defraud investors, made misrepresentations and omissions 
in private placement memoranda, and misused investor funds.   
 

III.  CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 
 
 McGinn has been convicted within ten years of the commencement of this proceeding of a 
felony that “arises out of the conduct of the business of a broker, dealer, . . . [or] investment 
adviser” and “involves the violation of section . . . 1341 [and] 1343. . . of title 18, United States 
Code” within the meaning of Sections 15(b)(4)(B)(ii), (iv) and 15(b)(6) of the Exchange Act and 
Sections 203(e)(2)(B), (D), and 203(f) of the Advisers Act. 
 

IV.  SANCTION 
 McGinn will be barred from the securities industry.  This sanction will serve the public 
interest and the protection of investors, pursuant to Sections 15(b)(6) of the Exchange Act and 
203(f) of the Advisers Act, and accords with Commission precedent and the sanction considerations 
set forth in Steadman v. SEC, 603 F.2d 1126, 1140 (5th Cir. 1979).  McGinn’s unlawful conduct 
was recurring and egregious; extending over a period of several years, McGinn’s scheme resulted in 
the loss of millions of dollars.  There is a reasonable foreseeable risk that, if he were allowed to 
resume his former business activities, he would engage in similar criminal conduct.   

 
V.  ORDER 

 
 IT IS ORDERED that, pursuant to Section 15(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 
U.S.C. § 78o(b), and Section 203(f) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, 15 U.S.C. § 80b-3(f), 
TIMOTHY M. MCGINN IS BARRED from associating with any broker, dealer, investment 
adviser, municipal securities dealer, municipal advisor, transfer agent, or nationally recognized 
statistical rating organization and from participating in an offering of penny stock.3 
 

                                                 
3 Thus, he will be barred from acting as a promoter, finder, consultant, or agent; or otherwise 
engaging in activities with a broker, dealer, or issuer for purposes of the issuance or trading in any 
penny stock, or inducing or attempting to induce the purchase or sale of any penny stock, pursuant 
to Exchange Act Section 15(b)(6)(A), (C).  
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 This Initial Decision shall become effective in accordance with and subject to the provisions 
of Rule 360 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice, 17 C.F.R. § 201.360.  Pursuant to that Rule, a 
party may file a petition for review of this Initial Decision within twenty-one days after service of 
the Initial Decision.  A party may also file a motion to correct a manifest error of fact within ten 
days of the Initial Decision, pursuant to Rule 111 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice, 17 C.F.R. 
§ 201.111.  If a motion to correct a manifest error of fact is filed by a party, then that party shall 
have twenty-one days to file a petition for review from the date of the undersigned’s order resolving 
such motion to correct a manifest error of fact.  The Initial Decision will not become final until the 
Commission enters an order of finality.  The Commission will enter an order of finality unless a 
party files a petition for review or a motion to correct a manifest error of fact or the Commission 
determines on its own initiative to review the Initial Decision as to a party.  If any of these events 
occur, the Initial Decision shall not become final as to that party.4 
 
 
 
       __________________________________ 
       Carol Fox Foelak 
       Administrative Law Judge 

                                                 
4 A respondent may also file a motion to set aside a default pursuant to 17 C.F.R. § 201.155(b).    
See Alchemy Ventures, Inc., Exchange Act Release No. 70708, 2013 SEC LEXIS 3459, at *5-6 
(Oct. 17, 2013).       
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In the Matter of  
 
TIMOTHY M. MCGINN  
 
 
 
NOTICE THAT INITIAL DECISION HAS BECOME FINAL 
 
 
 The time for filing a petition for review of the initial decision in this proceeding has 
expired.  No such petition has been filed by Timothy M. McGinn and the Commission has not 
chosen to review the decision on its own initiative. 
 
 Accordingly, notice is hereby given, pursuant to Rule 360(d) of the Commission's Rules 
of Practice,1 that the initial decision of the administrative law judge2 has become the final 
decision of the Commission with respect to Timothy M. McGinn.  The order contained in that 
decision is hereby declared effective.  The initial decision ordered that, pursuant to Section 15(b) 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 203(f) of the Investment Advisers Act of  
1940, Timothy M. McGinn is barred from association with any broker, dealer, investment  
  

                                                           
1  17 C.F.R. ' 201.360(d). 
2  Timothy M. McGinn, Initial Decision Rel. No. 566 (Feb. 20, 2014), 108 SEC Docket 06, 
2014 WL 651951. 
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adviser, municipal securities dealer, municipal advisor, transfer agent, or nationally recognized 
statistical rating organization and from participating in an offering of penny stock. 
 
 For the Commission, by the Office of the General Counsel, pursuant to delegated 
authority. 
          
 
 
 
      Jill M. Peterson 
       Assistant Secretary 
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In the Matter of 

 

TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and,   

DAVID L. SMITH, 
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ORDER MAKING FINDINGS 

AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL 

SANCTIONS PURSUANT TO SECTION 

15(b) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE 

ACT OF 1934 AND SECTION 203(f) OF 

THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 

1940 AS TO DAVID L. SMITH 

 

 

 

 

I. 
 

 On September 6, 2013, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission”) 

instituted public administrative proceedings pursuant to Section 15(b) of the Securities Exchange 

Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) and Section 203(f) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 

(“Advisers Act”) against David L. Smith (“Smith” or “Respondent”).   

 

II. 
 

 In connection with these proceedings, Respondent has submitted an Offer of Settlement 

(the “Offer”) which the Commission has determined to accept.  Solely for the purpose of these 

proceedings and any other proceedings brought by or on behalf of the Commission, or to which the 

Commission is a party, Respondent consents to the Commission’s jurisdiction over them and the 

subject matter of these proceedings and to the entry of this Order Making Findings and Imposing 

Remedial Sanctions Pursuant to Section 15(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 

203(f) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, (“Order”), as set forth below.   
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III. 
 

 On the basis of this Order and Respondent’s Offer, the Commission finds that: 

 

 1. Smith and Timothy M. McGinn (“McGinn”) were the founders and primary owners 

of McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc. (MS & Co.), a broker-dealer based in Albany, NY.  Smith was 

registered from 1981 through August 2012, and was associated with MS & Co. during that time.  

McGinn and Smith were also indirect owners of McGinn Smith Advisors, LLC, which was 

registered with the Commission as an investment adviser from January 2006 to April 2009. 

 

2. On February 6, 2013, following a four-week trial in United States v. David L. Smith 

and Timothy M. McGinn, 12-cr-0028 (N.D.N.Y.) (DNH), a jury in the United States District Court 

for the Northern District of New York found McGinn and Smith guilty on multiple counts charged 

in the Superseding Indictment, including conspiracy to commit mail and wire fraud, mail fraud, 

wire fraud, securities fraud and filing a false tax return.  On August 13, 2013, the Court entered 

judgments against McGinn and Smith.  Smith was sentenced to a prison term of 120 months, and 

ordered to pay a fine of $50,000 and restitution of $5,989,726. 

 

3. The counts of the Superseding Indictment to which Smith was found guilty alleged, 

among other things, that through various securities offerings from 2006 through 2009 he devised 

schemes to defraud investors, made misrepresentations and omissions in private placement 

memoranda, and misused investor funds.  

 

IV. 

 

In view of the foregoing, the Commission deems it appropriate and in the public interest to 

impose the sanctions agreed to in Respondent Smith’s Offer. 

 

Accordingly, it is hereby ORDERED pursuant to Section 15(b)(6) of the Exchange Act and 

Section 203(f) of the Advisers Act that Respondent Smith be, and hereby is: 

 

barred from association with any broker, dealer, investment adviser, municipal securities 

dealer, municipal advisor, transfer agent, or nationally recognized statistical rating 

organization; barred from participating in any offering of a penny stock, including: acting 

as a promoter, finder, consultant, agent or other person who engages in activities with a 

broker, dealer or issuer for purposes of the issuance or trading in any penny stock, or 

inducing or attempting to induce the purchase or sale of any penny stock. 

 

Any reapplication for association by the Respondent will be subject to the applicable laws 

and regulations governing the reentry process, and reentry may be conditioned upon a number of 

factors, including, but not limited to, the satisfaction of any or all of the following:  (a) any 

disgorgement ordered against the Respondent, whether or not the Commission has fully or partially 

waived payment of such disgorgement; (b) any arbitration award related to the conduct that served 
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as the basis for the Commission order; (c) any self-regulatory organization arbitration award to a 

customer, whether or not related to the conduct that served as the basis for the Commission order; 

and (d) any restitution order by a self-regulatory organization, whether or not related to the conduct 

that served as the basis for the Commission order. 

 

 By the Commission. 

 

  

 

       Jill M. Peterson 

       Assistant Secretary 
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ORDER INSTITUTING 
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-
DESIST PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT 
TO SECTION 8A OF THE SECURITIES 
ACT OF 1933, SECTIONS 15(b) AND 
21C OF THE SECURITIES 
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, SECTION 
203(f) OF THE INVESTMENT 
ADVISERS ACT OF 1940, AND 
SECTION 9(b) OF THE INVESTMENT 
COMPANY ACT OF 1940 AND 
NOTICE OF HEARING  

  
I. 

 The Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission”) deems it appropriate 
and in the public interest that public administrative and cease-and-desist proceedings be, 
and hereby are, instituted pursuant to Section 8A of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities 
Act”), Sections 15(b) and 21C of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”), 
Section 203(f) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (“Advisers Act”), and Section 9(b) 
of the Investment Company Act of 1940 (“Company Act”) against Donald J. Anthony, Jr., 
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Frank H. Chiappone, Richard D. Feldmann, William P. Gamello, Andrew G. Guzzetti, 
William F. Lex, Thomas E. Livingston, Brian T. Mayer, Philip S. Rabinovich and Ryan C. 
Rogers (“Respondents”).   

 
II. 
 

After an investigation, the Division of Enforcement alleges that: 
 

 A.  RESPONDENTS 
 

1. Donald J. Anthony, Jr., 60 years old, is a resident of Loudonville, NY.  He 
was registered with McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc. (“MS & Co.”) from November 1997 to 
December 2009, and McGinn, Smith Advisors, LLC (“MS Advisors”) from February 2006 
to December 2009.  

2. Frank H. Chiappone, 57 years old, is a resident of Clifton Park, NY.  He 
was registered with MS & Co. from February 1989 to December 2009.   

3. Richard D. Feldmann, 74 years old, is a resident of Delmar, NY.  He was 
registered with MS & Co. from July 1987 to December 2009.  

4. William P. Gamello, 49 years old, is a resident of Rexford, NY.  He was 
registered with MS & Co. from April 2005 to December 2009.   

5. Andrew G. Guzzetti, 66 years old, is a resident of Saratoga Springs, NY.  
He was registered with MS & Co. from September 2004 to December 2009.   

6. William F. Lex, 67 years old, is a resident of Phoenixville, PA.  He was 
registered with MS & Co. from January 1983 to December 2009. 

7. Thomas E. Livingston, 55 years old, is a resident of Slingerlands, NY.  He 
was registered with MS & Co. from October 1988 to December 2009, and became a 20% 
shareholder of MS Holdings in 2004.  

8. Brian T. Mayer, 40 years old, is a resident of Princeton, NJ.  Mayer was 
registered with MS & Co. from July 2001 to December 2009, and MS Advisors from 
February 2006 to April 2009.   

9. Philip S. Rabinovich, 39 years old, is a resident of Roslyn, NY.  He was 
registered with MS & Co. from July 2001 to December 2009, and with MS Advisors from 
August 2006 to December 2009.     

10. Ryan C. Rogers, 40 years old, is a resident of East Northport, NY.  He was 
registered with MS & Co. from July 2001 to December 2009, and with MS Advisors from 
February 2006 to April 2009. 
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 B. RELEVANT ENTITIES1 AND INDIVIDUALS 
 

11. MS & Co., a New York corporation founded in 1980 by David Smith and 
Timothy McGinn, had its principal place of business at 99 Pine Street, Albany, NY, and 
maintained branch offices at Clifton Park, NY, New York, NY, and King of Prussia, PA.  
MS & Co. was registered with the Commission as a broker-dealer beginning in 1980 and as 
an investment adviser in April 2009.  It was owned by Smith (50%), McGinn (50%; 30% 
after 2004), and Thomas Livingston (20% after 2004).  From 2003 to 2009, MS & Co. had 
about 55 employees, including about 35 registered representatives.  On December 24, 
2009, MS & Co. filed a partial BD-W.  On March 9, 2010, MS & Co. also withdrew its 
investment adviser registration.  FINRA terminated MS & Co.’s FINRA membership on 
August 4, 2010. 

12. MS Advisors was a New York corporation formed in 2003 with its 
principal place of business at 99 Pine Street, Albany, New York.  MS Advisors was owned 
by Smith (50%), McGinn (30%) and Livingston (20%).  MS Advisors was registered as an 
investment adviser with the Commission from January 3, 2006 to April 24, 2009, and was 
the investment adviser to the Four Funds (defined below) until April 2009, when it was 
replaced by MS & Co. 

13. McGinn, Smith Holdings, LLC (“MS Holdings”) was owned by Smith 
(50%), McGinn (30%) and Livingston (20%). 

14. McGinn, Smith Capital Holdings Corp. (“MS Capital”) was a New 
York corporation formed in 1989 with its principal place of business at 99 Pine Street, 
Albany, New York.  MS Capital was owned by MS Holdings (52%), McGinn (24%) and 
Smith (24%).  MS Capital was the indenture trustee, the servicing agent and the collateral 
agent for the Four Funds, and the trustee for all the Trusts created between 2006 and 2009.  
Smith was president and McGinn was chairman of the board.  

15. The Four Funds were New York limited liability companies, whose sole 
managing member was MS Advisors.  MS & Co. served as the placement agent for the 
Four Funds offerings, and MS Capital acted as the Trustee.  The Four Funds shared offices 
with MS & Co. and the other McGinn Smith entities at 99 Pine Street, Albany, NY.  The 
Four Funds offerings are listed below, along with the promised rate of return, the maximum 
amount of the offering, and the date of the PPM: 

                                                 
1  On April 20, 2010, the United States District Court for the Northern District of New 
York granted the SEC’s motion for a temporary restraining order and appointed a Receiver 
over numerous entities controlled or owned by Timothy McGinn and David Smith.  See 
SEC v. McGinn Smith & Co., Inc., et al., 10-CV-457 (N.D.N.Y.) (GLS/CFH) (Dkt. Nos. 4, 
5, 96).  All the McGinn Smith entities−including MS & Co., MS Advisors, MS Capital, 
MS Holdings, FIIN, FEIN, FAIN and TAIN−remain under the Receiver’s control. 
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(a)  First Independent Income Notes, LLC (“FIIN”), 5%/7.5%/10.25%      
($20 million) (9/15/03); 

(b) First Excelsior Income Notes LLC (“FEIN”), 5%/7.5%/10.25%           
($20 million) (1/16/04); 

(c) Third Albany Income Notes, LLC (“TAIN”), 5.75%/7.75%/10.25%    
($30 million) (11/1/04); and  

(d) First Advisory Income Notes, LLC (“FAIN”), 6%/7.75%/10.25%        
($20 million) (10/1/05).   

16. The Trust Offerings were offerings by special purpose entities, purportedly 
to invest in contracts for burglar alarm service, “triple play” (broadband, cable and 
telephone) service or luxury cruises.  MS & Co. acted as a placement agent and MS Capital 
acted as Trustee for the Trust Offerings.  The Trust Offerings are listed below, along with 
the promised rate of return, the maximum amount of the offering, and the date of the PPM: 

(a) TDM Cable Trust 06, 7.75%/9.25% ($3,550,000) (11/13/06) 
(b) TDM Verifier Trust 07, 8.25%/9% ($3,475,000) (2/23/07) 
(c) Firstline Senior Trust 07, 9.25% ($1,850,000) (5/19/07) 
(d) Firstline Trust 07, 11% ($1,867,000) (5/19/07) 
(e) Firstline Senior Trust 07 Series B, 9.5% ($1,435,000) (10/19/07) 
(f) TDM Luxury Cruise Trust 07, 10% ($3,630,000 (7/16/07) 
(g) Firstline Trust 07 Series B, 11% ($2,115,000) (10/19/07) 
(h) TDM Verifier Trust 08, 8.50%/10% ($3,850,000) (12/17/07) 
(i) Cruise Charter Ventures Trust 08, 13% ($3,250,000) (2/14/08) 
(j) Integrated Excellence Sr. Trust 08, 9% ($900,000) (5/30/08) 
(k) Integrated Excellence Jr. Trust 08, 10% ($580,000) (5/30/08) 
(l) Fortress Trust 08, 13% ($3,060,000) (9/24/08) 
(m) TDM Cable Trust 06, 10% ($1,380,000) (11/17/08) 
(n) TDM Verifier Trust 09, 10% ($1,300,000) (12/15/08) 
(o) TDMM Cable Jr Trust 09, 11% ($1,325,000) (1/19/09) 
(p) TDMM Cable Sr. Trust 09, 9% ($1,550,000) (1/19/09) 
(q) TDM Verifier Trust 07R, 9% ($2,100,000) (2/2/09) 
(r) TDM Verifier Trust 08R, 9% ($2,005,000) (7/6/09) 
(s) TDMM Benchmark Trust 09, 8%, 9%, 10%, 11%, 12%  

($3,000,000) (8/20/09) 
(t) TDM Verifier Trust 11, 9% ($1,550,000) (9/3/09) 
(u) Cruise Charter Ventures, LLC, 12% ($400,000) (9/25/09) 

 
17. McGinn Smith Transaction Funding (“MSTF”) was a New York 

corporation formed in 2008.  Like the Four Funds and Trust offerings, the $10 million 
MSTF offering on April 22, 2008 was underwritten by MS & Co.   

18. Timothy M. McGinn, 64 years old, was the chairman, secretary and co-
owner of MS & Co.  From July 2003 through May 2006, McGinn served as CEO of 
Integrated Alarm Services Group, Inc. (“IASG”), which went public in July 2003.  In 
September 2011, FINRA permanently barred McGinn from associating with any FINRA 
member.  On February 6, 2013, following a four-week trial, a jury in the Northern District 
of New York found McGinn guilty of multiple counts of mail and wire fraud, securities 
fraud, and filing false tax returns.  United States v. Timothy M. McGinn & David L. Smith, 
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12-CR-28 (DNH) (N.D.N.Y.).   On August 7, 2013, McGinn was sentenced to 15 years in 
prison and ordered to pay restitution of $5,992,800. 

19. David L. Smith, 67 years old, was the president and chief executive officer 
of MS & Co. and the manager of the Four Funds.  Until 2007, Smith was also the chief 
compliance officer of MS & Co.  In September 2011, FINRA permanently barred Smith 
from associating with any FINRA member.  On February 6, 2013, following a four-week 
trial, a jury in the Northern District of New York found Smith guilty of multiple counts of 
mail and wire fraud, securities fraud, and filing false tax returns.  United States v. Timothy 
M. McGinn & David L. Smith, 12-CR-28 (DNH) (N.D.N.Y.).  On August 7, 2013, Smith 
was sentenced to 10 years in prison and ordered to pay restitution of $5,989,736. 

C. OVERVIEW 
 
20. Respondents Anthony, Chiappone, Feldmann, Gamello, Lex, Livingston, 

Mayer, Rabinovich and Rogers were among the top-selling brokers at MS & Co.  They 
sold millions of dollars of MS & Co. private placements in spite of numerous red flags, 
including a policy−which was clearly inconsistent with the terms of the offerings−that 
required them to “replace” customers seeking to redeem notes with new customers before 
the redemption would be honored.  Guzzetti, a supervisor at MS & Co., failed to take any 
action despite knowledge of red flags.  Based on their conduct, Respondents committed the 
following violations:  

a) Anthony, Chiappone, Feldmann, Gamello, Lex, Livingston, Mayer, 
Rabinovich and Rogers willfully violated Sections 5(a) and (c) of the 
Securities Act by offering and selling notes for which no registration 
statements were in effect;  

b) Anthony, Chiappone, Feldmann, Gamello, Lex, Livingston, Mayer, 
Rabinovich and Rogers willfully violated Section 17(a) of the Securities 
Act and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, 
by knowingly or recklessly, or negligently, failing to perform reasonable 
due diligence to form a reasonable basis for their recommendations to 
customers, and made misrepresentations and omissions in 
recommending the Four Funds and Trust Offerings; and 

c) Guzzetti failed reasonably to supervise the other Respondents, pursuant 
to Section 15(b)(6), incorporating by reference Section 15(b)(4)(E) of 
the Exchange Act.   

 
D.        THE MS & CO. OFFERINGS  

 
21. David Smith and Timothy McGinn created and controlled the Four Funds 

and Trust Offerings.  The offerings raised more than $125 million from more than 750 
investors.  Investor losses exceed $80 million.   

22. The Four Funds offerings−FIIN (Sept. 2003), FEIN (Jan. 2004), TAIN 
(Nov. 2004) and FAIN (Oct. 2005) –raised at least $85 million.  Smith controlled the 
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issuers, prepared the private placement memoranda (“PPMs”), set the terms of the 
offerings, controlled the investor money, and made all the investment decisions.  Four 
Funds investors were promised quarterly interest payments and a return of principal upon 
maturity.  Each offering had three tranches: the five-year “secured junior” notes paid 
10.25%; the three or five year “secured senior subordinated” paid 7.5% or 7.75%; and the 
one-year “secured senior” notes paid 5%, 5.75% or 6%.   

23. Although the Four Funds PPMs labeled each tranche as “secured,” there 
were no secured assets subject to forfeiture in the event that a particular Fund failed.  

24. According to the PPMs, MS & Co., as the placement agent, was to receive a 
commission of 2% of the offering proceeds.  In addition, according to the PPMs, the 
brokers were entitled to (and did receive) “incentive commissions . . . [paid] to our 
managing member’s salesmen at the rate of 2% of the aggregate principal amount of the 
notes per year over the term of the notes.” 

25. Smith had no experience in making investment decisions and managing 
investments for entities like the Four Funds, and Smith had broad flexibility in making 
investment decisions.  As the PPMs for the offerings stated, each of the Four Funds was:  

formed to identify and acquire various public and/or private 
investments, which may include, without limitation, debt 
securities, collateralized debt obligations, bonds, equity 
securities, trust preferred, collateralized stock, convertible 
stock, bridge loans, leases, mortgages, equipment leases, 
securitized cash flow instruments, and any other investments 
that may add value to our portfolio . . . . 
 

26. The PPMs stated that the notes would be offered only to accredited 
investors, as defined in Rule 501(a) of Regulation D.  To this end, the PPMs required that 
each investor “represent in writing that it qualifies as an ‘accredited investor’ . . . and must 
demonstrate the basis for such qualification.”  The subscription agreements similarly 
reiterated that the notes were offered to accredited investors only.   

27. Despite these representations, each of the Four Funds offerings had more 
than 35 unaccredited investors.  The Respondents sold the Four Funds to unaccredited 
investors. 

28. In September 2003, just weeks after the launch of the FIIN offering, Smith 
began diverting millions of dollars to pay investors in pre-2003 MS & Co. offerings.2  

                                                 
2  From 1990 through early 2003, Smith and McGinn orchestrated, through MS & Co. and 
related entities, dozens of note offerings secured by residential alarm contracts. 
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Overall, Smith used at least $12.8 million of the Four Funds offering proceeds to pay 
investors in pre-2003 MS & Co. offerings. 

29. Smith invested a majority of the Four Funds’ proceeds in entities that were 
affiliated with MS & Co., even though the PPM did not disclose this, and in risky and 
highly speculative venture capital investments.  For example, Smith invested $8.8 million 
in alseT Management, a start-up partially-owned and controlled by Livingston and Smith 
himself, which never earned any revenue.  The Four Funds’ investments did not generate 
sufficient returns required to meet the issuers’ obligations to investors.  

30. In 2006, McGinn returned to MS & Co. on a full-time basis after nearly 
three years as CEO of IASG.  McGinn created the twenty-one Trust Offerings, plus MSTF, 
that raised over $41 million.  The Trust Offerings ostensibly were created to fund entities 
engaged in specific areas, such as burglar alarm service, triple play service, or luxury 
cruises.  These entities, however, were not funded directly by the issuer; instead, in most 
cases, the offering proceeds were first transferred to various conduit entities, primarily 
McGinn Smith Funding LLC (the “MSF Conduit”) or TDM Cable Funding LLC (the 
“TDM Conduit”).   

31. The proceeds of the Trust Offerings were commingled and then used as 
needed by MS & Co., including infusing cash into the faltering Four Funds.  The conduits 
and their corresponding Trust Offerings are listed below:  

TDM Conduit 

• TDM Cable Trust 06, 7.75%/9.25% (11/13/2006) 
• TDM Verifier Trust 07, 8.25%/9.00% (2/23/2007) 
• TDM Luxury Cruise, 10% (7/16/2007) 
• TDM Cable Trust 06, 10% (11/17/2008) 
• TDMM Cable Senior Trust 09, 9% (1/19/2009) 
• TDMM Cable Jr. Trust 09, 11% (1/19/2009) 
• TDM Verifier Trust 07R, 9% (2/2/2009) 
• TDM Verifier Trust 08R (7/6/2009) 

MSF Conduit 

• Firstline Senior Trust 07, 9.25%/11% (5/19/2007) 
• Firstline Trust 07 Series B, 9.5%/11% (10/19/2007) 
• TDM Verifier Trust 08, 8.5%/10% (12/17/2007) 
• TDM Verifier Trust 09, 10% (12/15/2008) 
 
32. The Trust PPMs stated that they would “generally be offered only to 

accredited investors,” but also provided for 35 or fewer unaccredited investors, supposedly 
under Rule 506.  None of the Trust Offerings exceeded 35 unaccredited investors.  When 
integrated according to their Conduit entity, however, Rule 506’s limitation on 
unaccredited investors was breached:  at least 69 investors in the Trusts tied to the TDM 
Conduit were unaccredited, and at least 59 investors in the Trusts linked to the MSF 
Conduit were unaccredited. 
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33. The Trust Offerings continued the egregious misuse of investor funds. 
Smith and McGinn, for example, took for personal use millions of dollars in offering 
proceeds from the TDM Cable 06, TDMM Cable, Integrated Excellence, MSTF and 
Fortress offerings, used investor funds to pay earlier noteholders, and used the Trust 
Offering proceeds to satisfy liquidity needs for other MS & Co. entities.  

E. THE RESPONDENTS’ ILLEGAL CONDUCT 
 

34. The Respondents, as associated persons of a broker-dealer, had an 
obligation to conduct a reasonable investigation of the issuers in order to form a reasonable 
basis for any recommendation to customers regarding the MS & Co. offerings.  By making 
a recommendation, the Respondents implicitly represented to their customers that they had 
an adequate basis for the recommendation.  A broker has a duty to investigate the truth of 
the representations he makes to customers, because, by virtue of his title, customers are 
entitled to presume that the representations made were the result of reasonable 
investigation.   

35. The Respondents blindly relied upon Smith and McGinn, even in the face of 
red flags.  The Respondents, as licensed securities professionals, knew or should have 
known that securities issued by smaller companies of recent origin require more thorough 
investigation.  They should not simply parrot the marketing information furnished by Smith 
and McGinn, particularly in the face of red flags.  In addition, where Respondents lacked 
essential information about an issuer or its securities when making a recommendation, they 
failed to disclose this fact as well as the risks that arose from their lack of information. 

36. The Respondents’ due diligence, which at best consisted of reading the 
PPMs, was wholly inadequate, despite their knowledge that the issuers were completely 
controlled by Smith and McGinn.  There were numerous red flags, moreover, that should 
have alerted the Respondents to the need for a thorough investigation.  Instead, the 
Respondents blindly sold whatever private placement Smith and McGinn told them to sell. 

37. The Respondents also made material misrepresentations and omissions 
when recommending the Four Funds and Trust Offerings to their customers. 

The  Respondents Knew of Red Flags  
Surrounding the Four Funds Offerings. 
 

38. Anthony, Chiappone, Feldmann, Gamello, Lex, Livingston, Mayer, 
Rabinovich and Rogers performed inadequate due diligence prior to recommending the 
Four Funds to their customers.  The PPMs for the Four Funds, which they read or were 
reckless in not reading, made disclosures that should have caused the Respondents, as 
associated persons of a broker-dealer, to conduct a searching inquiry prior to 
recommending the products to their customers.  This heightened duty arose from the 
following factors: 

a. The PPMs made clear that Smith owned and controlled each of the 
issuers−which were new, single-purpose entities with no operating history− 
as well as the placement agent (MS & Co.) and the trustee.  Smith also had 
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total control over the disposition of investor funds, with absolutely no 
oversight or control.  As a result, the Respondents should have made 
specific inquiries as to how customer money would be invested before 
recommending the Four Funds to their customers.   

 
b. The Respondents knew or should have known that Smith had never before 

managed offerings of the size and scope of the Four Funds.  The debt 
offerings that MS & Co. had done before 2003 were small-scale note 
offerings tied to the income streams from home alarm contracts, far 
different from the broad and non-specific investment mandate of Four 
Funds offerings.3  Given Smith’s lack of experience in this area, and the 
Respondents’ knowledge of this lack of experience, they should have made 
specific inquiries as to how Smith planned to invest the offering proceeds. 
This is particularly true given fact that the issuers’ ability to make the 
relatively high interest payments, and to return the investors’ principal, 
depended on the nature of the investments; 

 
c. The PPMs stated that the Four Funds could acquire investments “from our 

managing member [MS Advisors] or any affiliate,” could “purchase 
securities from issuers in offerings for which [MS & Co.] is acting as 
underwriter or placement agent,” and that “[a]ffiliates of the placement 
agent may purchase a portion of the notes offered hereby.”  As a result, the 
Respondents should have inquired whether Smith−who controlled without 
oversight the issuers, the placement agent and the disposition of investor 
funds−did engage in any transactions with affiliates.  If they had, they 
would have discovered that nearly half of the offering proceeds had been 
invested in affiliates; and   

 
d. Despite the complete prohibition on sales to unaccredited investors in the 

Four Funds PPMs, the Respondents knew that sales were being made to 
unaccredited investors.  The Respondents, therefore, knew that the PPMs’ 
prohibition on sales to unaccredited investors was disregarded, which 
should have caused them to make inquiries. 

 

                                                 
3  The Respondents, when recommending the Four Funds and Trust Offerings, held out 
the pre-2003 alarm note offerings as indicative of Smith and McGinn’s integrity and skill.  
These earlier offerings, however, were also mismanaged. In a handwritten letter from 
Smith to McGinn in 2000, Smith characterized the pre-2003 offerings as a “Ponzi 
Scheme” because the offering proceeds “for the most part are used to fulfill the 
investment promise to earlier investors . . . the new investments have no chance of being 
repaid in full.”  These offerings were eventually paid off not from the income stream 
generated by the investments, but rather through the IASG IPO in July 2003, as well as 
over $12 million from the Four Funds offerings. 
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39. These factors should have prompted the Respondents to conduct a searching 
inquiry into the offerings.  Instead, they essentially turned a blind eye and sold the Four 
Funds offerings with no specific knowledge of how investor funds were being used.  

Smith’s Refusal to Disclose to the Brokers How He Had Invested 
Four Funds Offering Proceeds Was a Red Flag. 

 
40. From the commencement of the FIIN offering in September 2003 until 

January 2008, Smith provided his brokers with no specific information about how he had 
invested the offering proceeds.  Any questions by the brokers were deflected with the claim 
that Smith had made loans to local Albany businesses with Four Funds proceeds, and those 
businesses desired anonymity. Indeed, Smith steadfastly refused to give the brokers any 
meaningful information about how he had invested the Four Funds offering proceeds.  This 
refusal should have prompted the brokers to further question the propriety of the Four 
Funds.   

41. The information blackout that Smith imposed was contrary to the PPMs, 
which stated that an “annual statement of the operations consisting of a balance sheet and 
income statement” would be provided to investors upon request.  These reports, however, 
were never made available and it appears that no brokers requested this information before 
January 2008, when Smith disclosed that the Four Funds would be restructured.   

42. MS & Co.’s compliance manual, moreover, stated that “it will make a 
reasonable investigation . . . [and] Paperwork recording the due diligence will be kept in the 
legal files.” The Respondents also never asked to see the due diligence files, 
notwithstanding the red flags regarding the Four Funds.   

The Respondents Continued to Recommend MS & Co. Offerings 
Despite Knowledge of the Redemption Policy – Another Major 
Red Flag.  

 
43. By 2006, the Funds began having significant difficulty in meeting the 

redemption requests.  Smith therefore instituted a policy that required brokers to “replace” 
customers seeking to redeem Four Funds notes, including maturing notes, with new 
customers (the “Redemption Policy”).  The PPMs, however, did not state that a customer’s 
right to redemption depended on finding a “replacement.”   

44. The Redemption Policy was another red flag that put the Respondents on 
notice that the Four Funds were being handled much differently from what the PPMs 
provided.  None of the Respondents, however, undertook any investigation of the offerings; 
they also failed to disclose this material information to their customers; and they continued 
to recommend MS & Co. private placements to their customers for several more years.   

45. The Respondents learned of the policy at different times beginning in late 
2006.  They were shocked by the policy and knew that it was contrary to the PPMs.  The 
Respondents, however, did not disclose the Redemption Policy to customers, even those 
who sought to reinvest, or “roll over,” Four Funds notes at maturity.  Collectively, the 
Respondents raised millions of dollars in MS & Co. private placements after learning of the 
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policy.  They stood to profit if a customer elected to roll over, and would receive their 
annual commission for the life of the note. The Respondents sought redemptions for 
current customers even knowing that the redemption would be paid not with investment 
returns, as the PPMs represented, but rather with new investor funds.   

The Respondents Continued to Sell the Trust Offerings Despite 
Learning in January 2008 that the Four Funds Had Been 
Mismanaged. 

 
46. On January 8, 2008, Smith and McGinn held an all-day meeting to inform 

the brokers, including the Respondents, that the Four Funds were in default, that payments 
to investors would be curtailed, and that the offerings would be restructured.  Smith 
revealed that the Four Funds investment portfolios consisted of loans to small, local 
businesses, some of which had already filed for bankruptcy; risky venture capital 
investments; investments with sub-prime exposure; and other nonperforming investments.  
By contrast, the Four Funds each had made only one investment in a publicly-traded 
security:  Exchange Boulevard.com, a risky venture capital company that was quoted on 
OTC Link, formerly known as the Pink Sheets. 

47. None of the Respondents, despite the alarming disclosures in this meeting, 
requested any kind of probing investigation into what happened to the Four Funds or the 
ongoing Trust Offerings.  After the January 2008 meeting, there were thirteen offerings by 
MSTF and the Trusts, which raised at least $20 million.  As a result of the accumulation of 
red flags since the launch of the Four Funds in September 2003, the Respondents should 
have conducted a searching inquiry regarding any MS & Co. private placement.  Instead, 
they recommended the Trust Offerings to their customers based on insufficient due 
diligence.   

48. During the three years of the Trust and MSTF Offerings, investor funds 
were being used in ways contrary to the uses described in the PPMs; for example, Smith 
and McGinn took at least $4 million in offering proceeds for themselves and another MS & 
Co. officer.  Offering proceeds also were used to pay investors in earlier offerings and MS 
& Co.’s payroll.   

49. In the Trust Offerings, the amount actually invested pursuant to a particular 
PPM was far less than that PPM disclosed. 

50. The Trust PPMs, moreover, like the Four Funds PPMs, raised red flags that 
should have been readily apparent to the brokers.  For example, the August 2009 TDMM 
Benchmark Trust 09 (“Benchmark”) PPM should have raised a red flag.  Benchmark 
promised a high rate of return, which ranged from 8% to 12%, during a time when the 
prime rate was only 3.25%.  The Respondents should have been skeptical of Benchmark’s 
ability to meet the promised interest payments especially when considering that the PPM 
disclosed that only $1,950,000 (approximately 65%) of the total $3 million raised would 
actually be invested, with the remainder siphoned off in fees.  The Respondents who 
recommended the Benchmark offering did so despite the exorbitant fees, and without 
questioning how MS & Co. planned to make 8 – 12% interest payments and redeem the 
principal upon maturity while taking over one-third of the money raised in fees. 
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51. The second Firstline Trust offering of October 19, 2007 raised $3.2 million 
from investors (an earlier Firstline offering in May 2007 had raised $3.7 million). In this 
offering, a McGinn Smith affiliate loaned the offering proceeds to Firstline Securities, Inc., 
a Utah corporation that sold residential alarm contracts.  At the time of the October 2007 
offering, McGinn had been informed of the threat of crippling litigation by one of 
Firstline’s creditors, and McGinn was personally involved in trying to resolve the dispute.  
Litigation resulted and, on January 25, 2008, Firstline filed a voluntary petition for Chapter 
11 bankruptcy in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the District of Utah.  If the Respondents 
had conducted due diligence in response to red flags, they would have discovered the legal 
issues, which should have caused them to stop selling the Firstline offering.  Instead, they 
were unaware of the bankruptcy filing until McGinn finally disclosed it in September 2009.  
Lex, Feldmann, Chiappone, Rabinovich and Mayer sold Firstline trust certificates after the 
bankruptcy filing.   

F.        SALES AND COMMISSIONS 
 

52. Anthony sold approximately $2.2 million of the Four Funds, and 
approximately $630,000 of the Trust Offerings. He earned approximately $104,000 in 
commissions.   

53. Chiappone sold approximately $12 million of the Four Funds offerings and 
approximately $3.4 million of the Trust Offerings. He earned approximately $513,000 in 
commissions.   

54. Feldmann sold approximately $5.4 million of the Four Funds offerings and 
approximately $595,000 of the Trust Offerings.  Feldmann earned approximately $299,000 
in commissions.   

55. Gamello sold approximately $1.3 million of the Four Funds offerings and 
approximately $1.6 million of the Trusts. He earned approximately $74,500 in 
commissions.   

56. Lex sold approximately $38.5 million of the Four Funds offerings and 
approximately $6.6 million of the Trust Offerings.  He earned approximately $1,523,000 in 
commissions.   

57. Livingston sold approximately $3.5 million of the Four Funds offerings and 
approximately $380,000 of the Trust Offerings.  His total commissions were approximately 
$143,000.   

58. Mayer sold approximately $1.7 million of the Four Funds offerings and 
approximately $1.9 million of the Trust Offerings.  He earned approximately $81,000 in 
commissions, plus an additional 2% of the gross commissions generated by the New York 
City office.   

59. Rabinovich sold approximately $20.3 million of the Four Funds offerings 
and approximately $6.8 of the Trust Offerings.  He earned approximately $578,000 in 
commissions.   
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60. Rogers sold approximately $2 million of the Four Funds and approximately 
$5.2 million of the Trust Offerings.  He earned approximately $240,000 in commissions. 

G.      GUZZETTI FAILED REASONABLY TO SUPERVISE 
  
61. Guzzetti was the managing director of the MS & Co. Private Client Group 

from 2004 until late 2009.  During this period, Guzzetti supervised MS & Co. registered 
representatives with regard to the Four Funds and Trust Offerings.  

62. Guzzetti, who also earned about $6,000 in commissions, had direct 
supervisory responsibilities of the Respondents.  He carried out numerous managerial 
duties, including recruiting and hiring MS & Co. employees; assigning and reassigning 
customers to brokers; evaluating employee performances and awarding commissions; 
addressing customer grievances; answering employee questions regarding the firm; and 
issuing instruction and guidance regarding specific financial products and transactions, 
administrative issues, and broader firm policy. 

63. Guzzetti also sent regular e-mails summarizing MS & Co. products 
available for sale to customers. In a February 2006 email, for example, Guzzetti stated that 
“there are many investors sitting in money market accounts (fear of higher interest rates) 
who are losing return (cost of waiting). Our FAIN’S offer a way of locking in higher 
returns with $ sitting in money markets waiting for the ‘top’ in interest rates.” 

64. Guzzetti learned of the Redemption Policy by December 2006, when he 
received an email from Smith stating that Rabinovich “needs to replace the $100,000 
before doing the trade.  I am running on fumes with all of these redemptions and cannot 
afford any[]more.”  In November 2007, Guzzetti received an email from Smith stating that 
“I do not have the liquidity.  Any redemptions have to have replacement sales beforehand. . 
. . My preference is for there to be no redemptions.”  Guzzetti instructed the brokers to 
adhere to the Redemption Policy. 

65. Guzzetti had a duty to investigate red flags that suggest misconduct may be 
occurring and to take action when made aware of suspicious conduct.  Had Guzzetti 
responded reasonably to the red flags, he would have prevented or detected the underlying 
violations committed by Anthony, Chiappone, Feldmann, Gamello, Lex, Livingston, 
Mayer, Rabinovich and Rogers. 

H. VIOLATIONS 
 

66. As a result of the conduct described above, Anthony, Chiappone, Feldmann, 
Gamello, Lex, Livingston, Mayer, Rabinovich and Rogers willfully violated Sections 5(a) 
and (c) of the Securities Act. 

67. As a result of the conduct described above, Anthony, Chiappone, Feldmann, 
Gamello, Lex, Livingston, Mayer, Rabinovich and Rogers willfully violated Section 17(a) 
of the Securities Act, and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder. 
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68. As a result of the conduct described above, Guzzetti failed reasonably to 
supervise Anthony, Chiappone, Feldmann, Gamello, Lex, Livingston, Mayer, Rabinovich 
and Rogers, pursuant to Section 15(b)(6), incorporating by reference Section 15(b)(4)(E)  
of the Exchange Act, with a view toward preventing and detecting their violations of 
Sections 5(a) and (c) and 17 of the Securities Act, and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act 
and Rule 10b-5 thereunder. 

III. 
 
In view of the allegations made by the Division of Enforcement, the Commission 

deems it necessary and appropriate in the public interest that public administrative and 
cease-and-desist proceedings be instituted to determine: 

 
A.  Whether the allegations set forth in Section II hereof are true and, in 

connection therewith, to afford Respondents an opportunity to establish any defenses to such 
allegations;  

 
B.  What, if any, remedial action is appropriate in the public interest against 

Respondents pursuant to Section 15(b) of the Exchange Act including, but not limited to, 
disgorgement and civil penalties pursuant to Section 21B of the Exchange Act;  

 
C.  What, if any, remedial action is appropriate in the public interest against 

Respondents pursuant to Section 203(f) of the Advisers Act including, but not limited to, 
disgorgement and civil penalties pursuant to Section 203 of the Advisers Act;  

 
D. What, if any, remedial action is appropriate in the public interest against 

Respondents pursuant to Section 9(b) of the Investment Company Act including, but not 
limited to, disgorgement and civil penalties pursuant to Section 9 of the Investment 
Company Act; and   

 
E.  Whether, pursuant to Section 8A of the Securities Act and Section 21C of 

the Exchange Act, Respondents Anthony, Chiappone, Feldmann, Gamello, Lex, 
Livingston, Mayer, Rabinovich and Rogers should be ordered to cease and desist from 
committing or causing violations of and any future violations of Sections 5(a), (c) and 17(a) 
of the Securities Act, and Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the Exchange Act, whether 
Respondents should be ordered to pay a civil penalty pursuant to Section 8A(g) of the 
Securities Act, Section 21B(a) of the Exchange Act, Section 203(i) of the Advisers Act, and 
Section 9(d) of the Investment Company Act, and whether Respondents Anthony, 
Chiappone, Feldmann, Gamello, Lex, Livingston, Mayer, Rabinovich and Roger should be 
ordered to pay disgorgement pursuant to Section 8A(e) of the Securities Act, Sections 
21B(e) and 21C(e) of the Exchange Act, Section 203 of the Advisers Act, and Section 9 of 
the Investment Company Act. 

 
IV. 

 
IT IS ORDERED that a public hearing for the purpose of taking evidence on the 

questions set forth in Section III hereof shall be convened not earlier than 30 days and not 
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later than 60 days from service of this Order at a time and place to be fixed, and before an 
Administrative Law Judge to be designated by further order as provided by Rule 110 of the 
Commission's Rules of Practice, 17 C.F.R. § 201.110.   

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondents shall file an Answer to the 

allegations contained in this Order within twenty (20) days after service of this Order, as 
provided by Rule 220 of the Commission's Rules of Practice, 17 C.F.R. § 201.220.  

 
If Respondents fail to file the directed answer, or fail to appear at a hearing after 

being duly notified, the Respondents may be deemed in default and the proceedings may be 
determined against them upon consideration of this Order, the allegations of which may be 
deemed to be true as provided by Rules 155(a), 220(f), 221(f) and 310 of the Commission's 
Rules of Practice, 17 C.F.R. §§ 201.155(a), 201.220(f), 201.221(f) and 201.310. 

 
This Order shall be served forthwith upon Respondents personally or by certified 

mail. 
 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Administrative Law Judge shall issue an 

initial decision no later than 300 days from the date of service of this Order, pursuant to 
Rule 360(a)(2) of the Commission’s Rules of Practice.  

 
In the absence of an appropriate waiver, no officer or employee of the Commission 

engaged in the performance of investigative or prosecuting functions in this or any factually 
related proceeding will be permitted to participate or advise in the decision of this matter, 
except as witness or counsel in proceedings held pursuant to notice.  Since this proceeding is 
not “rule making” within the meaning of Section 551 of the Administrative Procedure Act, it 
is not deemed subject to the provisions of Section 553 delaying the effective date of any 
final Commission action. 

 
 By the Commission. 
 
 
 
        Elizabeth M. Murphy 
        Secretary 
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